IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RONNEKA ANN GUIDRY,)	NO.	80156 Electronically Filed Mar 23 2021 05:57 p.m.
Appellant,)		Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,)		
Respondent.)		

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

DARIN F. IMLAY CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 177.015 and NRS 178.472 give Court jurisdiction to review this appeal from jury verdict. (II:335-36). Judgment of Conviction was filed on 10/29/19. (II:415-14) and Notice of Appeal on 11/29/19. (II:415-16).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. INACCURATE JURY INSTRUCTIONS LOWERED STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF, EVISCERATED RONNEKA'S DEFENSE, AND ALLOWED JURY TO REACH CONVICTIONS BASED ON INCORRECT INSTRUCTIONS ON THE LAW.
- II. EVIDENCE INSUFFICIENT.
- III. DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROHIBITS CONVICTIONS FOR ROBBERY AND GRAND LARCENY.
- IV. TRIAL COURT FAILED TO CONDUCT VOIR DIRE IN A MANNER ASSURING FOR A SELECTION OF IMPARTIAL JURORS AND VIOLATED RONNEKA'S RIGHT TO VOIR DIRE.
- V. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN OPENING.
- VI. PREJUDICIAL ERROR OCCURRED WHEN COURT ALLOWED JURY TO SEE A GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPH THAT INFLAMED THE JURY.
- VII. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING.
- VIII. DUE PROCESS WAS VIOLATED BY STATE FAILING TO CORRECTLY ENDORSE SALISBURY AS AN EXPERT, NOT GIVING DEFENSE HIS SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT UNTIL AFTER HE TESTIFIED, AND BECAUSE SALISBURY WAS NOT QUALIFED.
- IX. UNREASONABLE SEARCH AND SEIZURE.
- X. CUMULATIVE ERROR.
- XI. SENTENCING ERROR.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 02/09/18, State filed an Indictment charging Ronneka Guidry with: (1) murder with deadly weapon (motor vehicle); (2) robbery with deadly weapon (Rolex watch/ motor vehicle); (3) grand larceny (Rolex watch); and (4) duty to stop at scene of crash involving death or personal injury occurring on 01/03/18. I:001-04; Grand Jury Hearing-III:486-561.

Ronneka appeared in District Court on 03/20/18, entered a plea of not guilty, and received a trial date. III:561-65;*Min*-II:435. Her trial was continued several times due in part to changes in attorneys.

Before trial, Ronneka filed three motions to suppress (Issue VIII), several other motions, and writ.

Six day trial began on 08/12/19, ending on 08/19/19.1

Jury found Ronneka guilty of: (1) second-degree murder; (2) robbery; (3) grand larceny; and (4) duty to stop. II:335-36.

<u>Day 1</u>: 08/12/19--IV:745-971;*Min*.-II:475. <u>Day 2</u>: 08/13/19--V:972-1159;*Min*.-II:476. <u>Day 3</u>: 08/14/19--V:1160-1221:VI:1222-1394;*Min*.-II:477. <u>Day 4</u>: 08/15/19--VI:1395-1471;VII:1472-1553; *Min*.-II:478-79. <u>Day 5</u>: 08/16/19--VII:1554-1685;*Min*.-II:480. <u>Day 6</u>: 08/19/19--VII:1686-1699; *Min*.-II:481-2. Ronneka waived jury penalty hearing. II:328-29.

On 10/18/19, court sentenced Ronneka to an aggregate term: life with parole possibility in 18 years. VII:1700-21;VIII:1700-21;IX:1722-32;*Min.*-II:483-84;II:414.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Twenty-one year old Eduardo Osorio visited Las Vegas for six days, during the 2018 New Year's holiday season. V:1171;1189-95;VI:1292-93;1333-36;1347-48. On 01/02/18, Osorio drank too much, became intoxicated (two times the limit), and took a ride with a stranger, Ronneka Guidry. *Id.* Ronneka dropped Osorio off near the Westin on Flamingo, on the side of Jay's Market, and drove away. *Exhibit 105*.

While Ronneka was driving near the cross-walk at the intersection of Flamingo and Koval, she stopped when Osorio ran in front of her car. VI:1261-62;1267. Osorio jumped on the hood and smashed the windshield by repeatedly hitting it with his fists while also trying to break the driver's side window. VI:1262. Ronneka was scared. VIII:1890-92.² When she drove away, Osorio fell off the car, landing headfirst in the street. Ronneka left the scene. Osorio later died.

State played the video/audio of Ronneka's interrogation during the trial (Exhibit 111), but made the transcript a court exhibit. VIII:1754-1898. Yellow portions of transcript were not played. For clarity, Ronneka cites to the transcript rather than the video.

"[It was an] Accident," said Coroner Lisa Gavin when asked her opinion as to the manner of Eduardo Osorio's death. "He died of multiple blunt force injuries" from "an unforeseen or unexpected event." VI:1295;1287. Gavin came to this opinion after reading the police investigative report, reviewing the injuries to Osorio's face, hands, knees, shoulder, thigh, penis, and the back of his head; and, after reviewing the autopsy report, toxicology report, autopsy photos, and X-rays. VI:1288;1286-87;IX:1979-84. Osorio's blood alcohol was twice the legal limit at .168 and contained marijuana metabolites below therapeutic levels. VI:1292-93. Thus, she concluded the manner of death was an accidental.

Eyewitness Timothy Landale confirmed Gavin's conclusion. VI:1257-84.

Landale testified that on 01/03/18, around 2:00 a.m., he was walking east down Flamingo from the Strip when he noticed a man run out of the bushes near the gas station at Flamingo and Koval. Landale said:

--someone ran...past me through the bushes into the street and jumped in front of a car. VI:1261.

[He] jumped in front of a car that was coming and [he] started screaming and [he] jumped on top of the hood of the car and [he was] like screaming, I think in another language, and like furiously punching the windshield. VI:1262.

And he just kept punching the windshield and it looked like he was trying to punch in the driver's side window... VI:1263.

...

He's [was] on his...hands and I think his knees and he's punching the windshield. VI:1269.

•••

He was trying to break the windshield it looked like. VI:1270.

• • •

He also switched to trying to punch in the driver's side window too. VI:1271.

...

The whole time he's yelling... VI:1272.

• • •

And then after a short period of time, the car sped off and he held on for a few seconds and then like couldn't hold on let go or something and hit the ground, it looked like headfirst. VI:1263.

...

And he kind of...bounced almost on the pavement... VI:1274.

Landale was 5 or 10 feet from the car when he witnessed this event. VI:1262.

Landale said the car did not hit or run over the man; the man jumped in front of the moving car and the car abruptly stopped. VI:1267-68. The contact between the car and man was the man jumping on the car after it stopped at the intersection. VI:1261-62;1268. Thereafter, the car drove more than 20 feet before the man fell off. VI:1277-78. The car did not swerve but just sped up. VI:1274.

Landale ran towards the man after the car left and noticed the man's pants were off. VI:1273. Others joined him, blocking traffic and moving the man to the side of the road because he was in the middle. VI:1274.

Several witnesses called 911 at 2:20 p.m. Kelley Lovatto said she saw a man jump on top of a car and start banging on the windshield, like he wanted to get inside the car. When the car took off, the man fell and was in the street. Another person called 911, saying he saw a man running and jump on top of a car. The man was banging on the window, the car sped off, and he was now unconscious in the street. *Exhibit 110*.

Officer Michael Amburgery arrived at the scene after receiving a call of a hit and run - pedestrian hit by a car. V:1199-1212. When he arrived, multiple people were around Osorio, with one person providing medical aid; he saw a head injury. V:1202-03;1212. He took over until medical arrived and then helped control the scene.

Amburgery said someone told him that the car that left was a black car driving westbound on Flamingo. V:1203. Amburgery saw blood in the street and noted where the man landed after falling off the vehicle, and where he was pulled across the travel lanes. V:1209-11.

On 01/03/18, at 3:30 a.m., CSA Tabath Pain began processing the scene. V:1212-21;VI:1222-34. She took photographs of the area where the police believed Osorio got out of the black car, on the side of Jay's Market by the Westin, and the direction the police believed the car drove away though the Westin parking garage to Koval. IX:1931-40. She also took

pictures of Flamingo where the incident occurred in front of the gas station at Jay's Market. IX:1945-74. The photographs showed blood; markings in the street made by Sgt. McCullough: AIC, shoe scuff, body scuff, BS start, and PED F.R. VII:1575. Several diagrams of the scene were later prepared. IX:1923-30.

CSA Jennifer Strumillo went to Sunrise Hospital and took photos of Osorio's injuries and personal belongings: passport, wallet, shoes, jacket, medical marijuana card, three credit cards, braided bracelets, and one penny. VI:1241-58;IX: 1976-78;1986-88.

As part of the investigation, police contacted Westin and Jay's Market security to obtain surveillance video. Westin security provided videos showing a black vehicle backing into a parking spot next to Jay's Market at approximately 2:13:00. The vehicle kept its lights on and remained parked for 7 minutes before a silhouette of a person got out of the passenger side. The person did not appear to be doing a personal inventory while standing outside the car. The black vehicle left by driving through the Westin's parking garage.VI:1301-27;VII:1463-69; *Exhibit 105*.

Weston Security Officer Jamal Cherry explained the videos. He speculated that the car zooming across the top of the first two videos in

Exhibit 105 was the same car that had been parked next to Jay's Market and had driven through the parking garage. VI:1307-08;1310-12;1317.

Detective Kenneth Salisbury was the primary investigator and responded to the scene at 4:12 a.m. VI:1455-71;VII:1472-1642. He identified the black vehicle as a Mercedes by watching the videos. VI:1459.

Later that morning, while METRO investigated the accident, Osorio's father and one of Osorio's friends, Lucas Siomes, were looking for Osorio. Osorio's father contacted Siomes who walked to the Monte Carol to find Osorio. He learned Osorio had not returned to check out. Later, he called the hospitals and discovered Osorio may have been in the hospital. V:1181-97.

Osorio's father contacted the coroner's office. V:1169-73. When he picked up his son's belongings he noticed his son's Rolex watch was missing. V:1173-76. He provided METRO with pictures of the watch and the serial number. V:1173-76;VII:1485-88.

Police spoke to Siomes who told them that he met Osorio around 11 p.m., the evening of 01/02/18, at a bar in Caesars. They talked, drank, and then Siomes walked with Osorio to the Club Omnia. Siomes did not go into the club, instead choosing to go to his room at Caesars. V:1181-99.

Upon learning Osorio had been at Caesars, police contacted Caesars Security to obtain video surveillance. VII:1486-87.

Caesar's Security Officer, Michal Siffrinn, reviewed surveillance video for the evening of 01/02/18 and 01/02/18. Stiffrin saw Osorio at the bar with Siomes, and walking to Omnia nightclub. Osorio entered the nightclub at 10:58 p.m. Siffrinn saw a watch on Osorio's wrist. VI:1330-31;1338;VII:1489;IX:1907-08.

Osorio left the nightclub at 1:51 a.m. and began talking to an African-American women, with a pink purse, sitting at a bar near the exit. Osorio and the women walked through the hallways and entered the elevator to the parking garage. VI:1331-36;IX:1910-12.

Maria Lester from Ace parking management provided pictures of the black Mercedes exiting the parking garage at 2:07 a.m., with an African-American women driving with a passenger.³ The license plate on the Mercedes was a paper tag with a telephone number and the name OC Cars and Credit US. VI:1341-58;VII:1490-93;IX:1913-22.

Salisbury traced the plate to a dealership in Costa Mesa, California, and upon meeting with the owner in California, he determined that the Mercedes had been sold to Ronneka. VII:1490-93.

Mercedes and women had entered at 1:33 a.m. on 01/03/18. VI:1344-46.

On 01/08/18, while in California, Salisbury notified other detectives to look for Ronneka and the Mercedes. VII:1492-95.

Det. Justine Gatus assisted in the surveillance of Ronneka's home. VI:1368-80. When Ronneka left home, driving the Mercedes to go to Walgreens, Gatus claimed she was speeding and not using turn signals. After Ronneka left Walgreens, METRO stopped and arrested her for these traffic violations and for a past traffic warrant. They impounded the black Mercedes with her cell phone visible on the front seat. VI:1373-75.

Despite the arrest, METRO officers did not take Ronneka to jail. Instead, police held Ronneka at METRO headquarters until Salisbury returned from California. VII:1494-5. She was stopped after 9 p.m, and Salisbury did not arrive to talk to her until approximately 10:45 p.m. VII:1494.

The interrogation of Ronneka with Salisbury and other detectives lasted more than 3 hours, beginning at 22:55:00 hours on 01/08/18 and ending at 02:03:00 on 01/09/18. VIII:1838-98. During the interrogation, Ronneka repeatedly asked to go to the restroom - they did not take her. At the end, when they continued to question her she told them she was very sleepy. *Id*.

Ronneka denied stealing Osorio's watch. She said Osorio came up to her in the bar and needed a ride. She agreed to drive him to the Monte Carlo. She pulled into the parking spot near the Westin and told him to get out of the car because he was too aggressive with her. She did not know why he jumped on her car and smashed the windshield. VIII:1838-98. She said she slowed down, she yelled to him, "Get off my car, what are you doing?" She was scared so she drove away. VIII:1838-98.

When Salisbury's asked Ronneka for the password code to her cell phone, she said: "I'm not giving no more number on it." VIII:1873.

Salisbury did not arrest Ronneka for any crimes arising out of the 01/03/18 incident after the interrogation. Instead, Ronneka was booked for the traffic warrant and released. VII:1507;1714.

While Ronneka was being processed at the jail, Salisbury obtained a search warrant for Ronneka's home. He told Sgt McCullough that although they had Ronneka's cell phone in her car, the phone was locked. VII:1508. When McCullough and a team of vice detectives searched Ronneka's home, McCullough obtained the password to Ronneka's cell phone by bribing/offering \$1.00 to the first of her children that gave him the password. VI:1406-07. During the search, officers took pictures of a purse and its

contents that they thought was similar to the pink purse Ronneka had while at Caesars. VI:1404-06.

Salsibury obtained a search warrant for the Mercedes and for Ronneka's cellphone. VII:1508;1515;VI:1402;1408;1413;VII:1508;1515.

Salisbury searched the Mercedes. He concluded there was damage to the Mercedes and no evidence that Ronneka hit anyone. VII:1511;1563;IX:1990-2000.

METRO's digital forensic examiner, James Beatty, used the password detectives obtained from Ronneka's children to open her cell phone. VI:1422. He downloaded all data on the cellphone, finding over 30,000 images, call logs, texts, SMS communications, and everything. VI:1422-25.

When reviewing the communications, Beatty saw messages from Ronneka to Mike King of Kings Jewelry in Miami Florida on 01/03/18 at 2:22:25 and also to John Fernandez. IX:2008-25. Subsequent messages indicated Ronneka wanted to sell a Rolex watch. She sent a snapshot of the watch to Fernandez and later sent the Rolex to him by FedEx. A copy of the FedEx receipt was on the phone. Fernandez agreed to pay Ronneka \$4500 for the watch. VII:1429-30;1436-43;1439-49;IX:2026-36-43.

With this information, METRO located receipts and video footage of Ronneka at FedEx sending an overnight package on 01/03/18 at 12:14 p.m. to Florida. VI:1358-66;VII:1515-17.

On the cell phone, Beatty also found a picture of Ronneka's smashed windshield and information identifying the repair shop. VI:1449-50;1455;IX:1998-99.

When Salisbury contacted Miami Police, Officer Alce, retrieved the Rolex watch from King's Jewelry, verified that it matched the serial number of Osorio's watch, and impounded it as evidence. VI:1415-20. Salisbury received the watch from Miami on 01/30/18. VII:1522.

On 01/18/18, Ronneka contacted Salisbury about her Mercedes. Salisbury set up a time to meet with her on 01/19/18 but also obtained a warrrant for Ronneka's arrest. VII:1516-19. Ronneka did not show-up.

Ronneka was arrested on 02/02/18 or 02/09/18 in Mobile Alabama. VII:1522.

At trial, Salisbury discussed the diagrams prepared from the crime scene measurements. IX:1923-28. He said AIC was the area of initial contact for damage or injury – where the witness said the Mercedes was. VII:1473;1639.

Shoe scuff was the area where Osorio's shoe scuffed the road.

VII:1474-75. Salisbury acknowledged Osorio wore flat shoes. VII:1557.

The photo of Osorio's shoes does not show scuffs. IX:1988.

A body scuff meant the body slid on the road. VII:1475-76.

Final resting point was listed, but Salisbury acknowledge METRO had no specific evidence as to Osorio's final resting point since his body was moved. VII:1475-76.

Salisbury admitted that he did not recalculate the measurements taken by McCullough before his analysis and he did not know the exact point where events occurred, only general areas. VII:1575-76;1584-85. He did not know where the Mercedes first stopped. VII:1584-86.

Salisbury believed the damage to the windshield on the Mercedes was caused by Osorio's fist based on the type of fracturing, but said he could not prove it. VII:1591-92;1639.

When discussing the speed of the Mercedes as it left, he initially claimed Ronneka accelerated at full throttle at 59 mph and going 0 to 59 mph. in 300 feet. VII:1514-15. Later, he admitted the Mercedes was only going 23 mph. at the time Osorio fell off the car. VII:1641.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Case addresses numerous issues involving statutory interpretation of the robbery statute, self-dense, defense of property, defense of occupied vehicle, necessity, the duty to stop statute, second-degree murder, and larceny statutes. This case has a significant search issue; and, prosecutorial misconduct from opening statement, closing, discovery problems, and the presentation of an unqualified expert.

ARGUMENT

I. INACCURATE JURY INSTRUCTIONS LOWERED STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF, EVISCERATED RONNEKA'S DEFENSE, AND ALLOWED JURY TO REACH CONVICTIONS BASED ON INCORRECT INSTRUCTIONS ON THE LAW.

A. Standard of review.

District courts are charged with accurately instructing the jury on the law. *Crawford v. State*, 121 Nev. 744, 755 (2004). "Court may either assist the parties in crafting the required instructions or may complete the instructions sua sponte." *Id.*; *Carter v. State*, 121 Nev. 759, 765 (2005).

Court generally reviews district court's decisions when settling jury instructions under an abuse of discretion or judicial error standard. Rodriguez v. State, 133 Nev. 905, 907 (2017). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." *Jackson v. State*, 117 Nev. 116, 120 (2001). Court used de novo review for instructions that are an inaccurate statement of law. *Nay v. State*, 123 Nev. 326, 330 (2007).

If error occurred and defendant objected, Court conducts harmless-error analysis. *Natko v. State*, 134 Nev. 841, 845 (Nev. App. 2018). "State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless." *Id.* Error is harmless if State can show "it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *Id. citing Nay at* 334.

If error occurred but defendant did not object, then "reversal is only required if the error is plain from a review of the record and affected [defendant's] substantial rights" by "actually causing prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." *Ramirez v. State*, 126 Nev. 203, 208 (2010) (reversal when "jury was not completely and accurately instructed on the necessary elements of second-degree murder"); NRS 178.062.

B. Reversible error for court to instruct jury that defense of property is superior to self-defense and to reject necessity defense.

A key factor the jury needed to decide was whether Ronneka acted in self-defense or necessity when she stopped her vehicle, and later put her foot on the accelerator, after Osorio jumped on the hood, shattered her windshield, and tried to break the driver's side window.

Ronneka argued a person may not use force to recover property and claimed Osorio was the initial aggressor, thus giving her the right to defend herself. VII:1539-49.

Ronneka submitted instructions on necessity/self-defense and assault. VII:1535-49. Ronneka's necessity/self-defense instruction said: "The defendant is not guilty of failure to stop at the scene of a crash involving death or personal injury if she acted out of legal necessity or self-defense." VII:1537-38. The assault instruction said: "Nevada law prohibits assault, assault is deliberately making another person feel that she is about to be physically harmed..." VII:1537. The instruction defined assault and listed two examples. These instructions went to the theory of Ronneka's defense she acted in self-defense when Osorio assaulted her; and, Osario's use of force was an unlawful replevin action. VII:1536-49.

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