#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Jul 27 2021 10:33 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RONNEKA ANN GUIDRY,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 80156

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SHARON G. DICKINSON Nevada Bar #003710 Chief Deputy Public Defender 309 South Third St., Ste. 226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

He is in the effort to resist her escape with the property and she uses force. As a matter of law –

VIIAA1548. Appellant responded State wrong since vehicle had left the scene.VIIAA1548. Court disagreed but would defer ruling.VIIAA1548.

State and Appellant submitted additional proposed instructions.VIIAA1615-16. State provided instructions on self-defense, victim's right to resist and felony murder does not provide a right to self-defense.VIIAA1613. Parties requested time to review proposed instructions.VIIAA1613-14. After reconvening, Appellant agreed with State's additional proposed instruction and it covered her assertion that Appellant "was lawfully acting in a right to speed away from the scene for fear of her safety."VIIAA1615-16. Court adopted Instructions 15-23.IAA352-360.

Appellant now complains that her proposed assault and necessity/self-defense instructions not given. Preliminarily, Appellant abandoned this issue by accepting State's proposed instructions.VIIAA1615-16. Appellant admits Court instructed on Appellant's alleged right of self-defense in Instructions 15-23, waiving this issue. AOBat19. This Court has an extensive line of authority concluding it will not address abandoned issues. Issues not raised in an opening brief are waived. Powell v. Liberty

Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 127Nev.156,162,n.3(2011). Court will not consider an issue when an appellant fails to raise it below. Davis v. State, 107Nev.600,606(1991). Nor will Court consider an issue initially raised below but abandoned at argument. Buck v. Greyhound Lines, Inc., 105Nev.756,766(1989).

Court did not err by declining Appellant's assault instruction. Osorio was not the initial aggressor. Because Appellant was the original aggressor, an instruction on self-defense was foreclosed. Court has held, "right of self-defense is not available to an original aggressor, that is a person who has sought a quarrel with the design to force a deadly issue and thus through his fraud, contrivance or fault, to create a real necessity for making felonious assault."Runion v. or apparent a State, 116Nev. 1041, 1051 (2000). Appellant had started driving for only seconds when Osorio ran towards her vehicle and jumped on it. Because the robbery was not completed at this point, as more fully discussed *infra*, there were no facts to support an assault instruction. Davis v. State, 130 Nev. 136, 142 (2014). Osorio was not assaulting Appellant, but instead was lawfully retrieving his property during the commission of the robbery. Regardless, jury was provided Instructions 15-23, which Appellant concedes served Appellant's theory of self-defense.IIAA352-60.

Appellant offers the conclusory statement the "Court informed jury that Osorio's right to defend his property was superior to Appellant's right of self-defense." IIAA352-60. A review of Appellant's citation does not factually support

the naked conclusion. Maresca v. State, 103Nev. 669, 673 (1987). Regardless, as discussed *supra*, Appellant could not create a situation and then claim self-defense as the initial aggressor.

Appellant argues Instruction 23 was an inaccurate statement of law because it removed her right of self-defense if the jury found her guilty of larceny. Notwithstanding waiver of this issue and only plain error review applying, Instruction 23 was an accurate statement of law and Appellant presents a red herring. Instruction:

A victim of a larceny has the right to use force to resist the taking, or the escape of the perpetrator with the property. A person who has taken property may not rely upon self-defense when the need to utilize the force is in response to the victim seeking to prevent the taking or escape with the property.

In other words, the use of force by the person who has taken the property to escape with the property of another elevates the taking to a robbery.

IIAA360. Appellant complains this is an inaccurate statement of law because she finished the robbery as drove away and could defend herself as Osorio resisted the taking of his property. However, as discussed more fully *infra* in Section I.G.1. and II.B. the robbery was not over when Osorio jumped on Appellant's vehicle. At the time Osorio jumped on the hood he was resisting the taking of his Rolex. Appellant's citation to NRS 193.240(2) does not change the analysis as that statute states "lawful possession." Even if Appellant wanted to say the Rolex was in her possession, this statute would still have no applicability because she would not have *lawful* 

possession. This is not a situation where Appellant had possession, there was a break in time, and Osorio used force to retrieve his property. Compare Simpson v. State, 126Nev. 756(2010). This situation occurred in a matter of seconds, while Appellant was still on scene. Appellant cannot claim self-defense where she is the initial aggressor. The fact that Osorio damaged her car does not change this fact.

Appellant's claim jurors should have been instructed on necessity also fails. No evidence presented to require a necessity instruction. Appellant's citation to <a href="Hoagland v. State">Hoagland v. State</a>, 126 Nev. 381, 387 (2010), supports why Appellant's instruction was erroneous. Court appropriately noted inapplicability of <a href="Hoagland">Hoagland</a>:

The case that you cited, <u>Hoagland v State</u>, 126 Nevada 381, discusses, in this instance, a necessity defense in terms of a DUI, there it discusses reasoning from foreign jurisdiction. But one of the cases that it talks about is that supporting element of a necessity defense is whether the defendant is blameless for creating the situation.

#### VIIAA1544.

Regardless of <u>Hogland</u> focusing on DUI, it is inapplicable because Appellant failed to present "sufficient evidence to show that [she] did not substantially contribute to the emergency or create the situation." <u>Id.</u> Appellant's contention that because <u>Hoagland</u> found Nevada had not codified the necessity defense for DUI does not matter as the case is inapplicable. The applicability of the charge for which Appellant provides additional authority does not matter as there was no evidence presented that would warrant necessity defense.

Any error would be harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of guilt.NRS 178.598; Knipes v. State, 124Nev.927,935(2008) (non-constitutional error reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence on jury's verdict). Constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in Chapman v. California, 386U.S.18,24(1967). The test for constitutional error is "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Tavares v. State, 117Nev.725, 732, n.14(2001).

Under any standard, there was overwhelming evidence of guilt, there was copious video footage depicting the events, including Appellant and Osorio traveling together from Caesar's to the crime scene as well as evidence showing Appellant accelerating as Osorio fell from her speeding car.VIIAA1514-15,1581. Appellant admitted she gave Osorio a ride and engaged in an argument that caused him to jump on the hood and bang on the windshield.VIIIAA1776-1786,1804-05. Appellant's cellphone revealed she sold Appellant's Rolex, and she failed to return to render aid to Osorio.VAA1428-30,1436;VIIAA1515-16,1523;IXAA2045.

# **B.** Defense of Occupied Vehicle/Rebuttable Presumptions

Appellant argues Court should have sua sponte instructed on the defense of occupied motor vehicle because she claimed she was not guilty of failing to stop.AOBat24-27.

Appellant failed to raise this claim below and therefore this Court should decline review. Dermody v. City of Reno, 113Nev. 207, 210-11(1997); Guy v. State, 108Nev. 770, 780(1992), cert. denied, 507U.S. 1009(1993); Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991).

If this Court opts to review, claim is reviewable only for plain error. <u>Dermody</u>, 113 Nev. at 210-11; <u>Guy</u>, 108 Nev. at 780; <u>Davis</u>, 107Nev. at 606. Plain error review asks:

To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record." <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

# Martinorellan v. State, 131Nev. 43, 49(2015).

Under any standard, Appellant's claim is meritless. NRS 200.120 does not apply to an individual who was the original aggressor. Despite Appellant's attempts to argue Osorio was the original aggressor, as discussed *supra*, her claims fail as Appellant had not reached a safe place to end the robbery at the time Osorio jumped on her vehicle. To say that she was not at that point "engaged in conduct in furtherance of criminal activity" is completely incorrect as the robbery was still ongoing as only seconds had elapsed.

Appellant cites NRS200.130(2), which provides a rebuttable presumption regarding defense of an occupied vehicle. Appellant asserts NRS200.130(2) in combination with NRS200.120 created a "castle doctrine" for cars. However, the legislature was cautious about viewing NRS 200.130 as a "castle doctrine" and ensured that the word "occupied" was added before the terms "motor vehicle" to ensure the intent behind the statute was only to prevent the loss of human life and further distinguish it from the "stand your ground law." Nevada Senate Committee Minutes, 2015Nev.S.B.175, February 25, 2015. Regardless, Appellant would not have had the right to self-defense in her car because she was the initial aggressor and, even if she was not, she had other means of escape, such as handing over Osorio's Rolex as she admitted to detectives she would have done "if she had it."VIIIAA1802-03,1806-07. Regardless, any error would have been outweighed by the overwhelming evidence of guilt, see *supra* in Section I.A.

# C. Accuracy of Self-Defense Instructions

Appellant argues Instruction 15-22 were inaccurate statements of self-defense law.AOBat27-30. Specifically, she argues because Instruction 23 took away Appellant's self-defense right, jurors could ignore 15-22.AOBat27.

Appellant abandoned this issue when she accepted State's self-defense instructions without objection.VIIAA1615-16. Court should decline review.Buck,105Nev.at766.

Appellant's argument, that Instructions 15-22 were based on law prior to 2015 making them inaccurate fails. Appellant's argument consists of the one aforementioned line of analysis. Maresca, 103Nev. at 673. Appellant has not even alerted this Court to what changes she believes made the instructions inaccurate.

Instructions 15-22 were accurate statements of the law as per Runion, 116Nev. at 1051. To the extent there are any differences in these instructions, they were tailored as Court explicitly instructed parties to do. Id.

The rest of Appellant's argument is comprised of the specific complaint that Instruction 16 and 18 were inaccurate, which is incorrect. Instruction 18:

The right of self-defense is not generally available to an original aggressor, that is a person who has sought a quarrel with the design to force a deadly issue and thus through her fraud, contrivance or fault, to create a real or apparent necessity for making a felonious assault.

The original aggressor is only entitled to exercise self-defense, if she makes a good faith endeavor to decline any further struggle before the mortal blow was given.

However, where a person without voluntarily seeking, provoking, inviting, or willingly engaging in a difficulty of her own free will, is attacked by an assailant, she has the right to stand her ground and need not retreat when faced with the threat of deadly force.

Notwithstanding, a person who is engaged in criminal activity must retreat instead of using deadly force.

IIAA355. This instruction tracks <u>Runion</u>,116Nev.at1051, where this Court found such self-defense instructions accurate statements of the law.

Appellant's complaint that this instruction failed to use the language that the original aggressor must be "actively engaged in conduct in furtherance of the

criminal activity" is a distinction without a difference. The instruction stated, "engaged in criminal activity" the added adjective would not alter the analysis as whether the word actively was used or not the instruction required the jury to find that Appellant was doing a criminal activity for which the actively component is implied by the use of the word "engaged." Thus, as discussed *supra*, Appellant was engaged in the robbery at the time Osorio tried to resist her driving away and therefore Appellant had a duty to retreat from the robbery as the original aggressor.

Appellant's argument that the instruction failed to outline the three-prong no duty to retreat test outlined in the statute is meritless. While it does not appear that a verbatim recitation of NRS 200.120(2) was included, the concept was provided to jurors. The clause beginning with "however, where a person without voluntarily seeking," provided the necessary elements for a victim to be justified to stand his ground and not retreat, which is the concept NRS 200.120(2) embodies. Notably, the Runion explicitly instructed courts to "tailor instructions to the facts and circumstances of a case, rather than simply relying on 'stock' instructions," which is exactly what Instruction 18 did.

Instruction 16 was an accurate statement of law and did not lower State's burden of proof:

A bare fear of death or great bodily injury is not sufficient to justify a killing. To justify taking the life of another in self-defense, the circumstances must be sufficient to excite the fears of a reasonable person placed in a similar situation. The person killing must act under

the influence of those fears alone and not in an effort to continue her felonious activity.

#### IIAA353.

This instruction was nearly a verbatim recitation of the accurate statements of law in Runion, 116 Nev. at 1051. Appellant's argument that this instruction did not include the offenses in NRS 200.120(1) is another red herring. A fear of death or great bodily injury is the crux of self-defense law and is necessarily included in "a crime of violence." Such phrase did not by any means narrow what is required, but accurately stated the conduct that qualifies under the statute. To the extent Appellant complains about the difference in the last phrase, that "the person killing must act under the influence of those fears alone and not in an effort to continue her felonious activity," Appellant once again fails to disclose binding authority that explicitly requires tailoring of instructions to the facts and circumstances of the case, which is exactly what this instruction did.Runion,116Nev.at1051. It did not add elements not contained in the proper analysis of self-defense. Moreover, the spirit of the rebuttable presumption regarding exciting the fears of a reasonable person was discussed in the instruction.

The reason Appellant had difficulty presenting a self-defense case was not because there were no self-defense instructions given, as there were, it was because she was the individual that decided to commit robbery that resulted in a man's

death.<u>Davis</u>,130Nev.at142. Regardless, any error would have been harmless based on the overwhelming evidence of guilt described *supra* in Section I.A.

## D. Larceny as a Lesser Included Offense of Robbery

Appellant argues Court should have accepted her proposed instruction, providing that larceny is a lesser included of robbery. AOBat30. She is mistaken.

Preliminarily, while Appellant proposed a lesser included instruction, she eventually agreed with State's proposed instruction on the issue and stated she did not object to the use of State's instruction.VIIAA1535-36. Appellant has abandoned this issue. <u>Buck</u>, 105Nev. at 766. Regardless, Appellant's argument is meritless.

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